E-FILED
May 11, 2017 3:35 PM
Court of Appeals
Division II
State of Washington

Case No. 48394-7-II

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

SHANTANU NERAVETLA, M.D.,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF WASHINGTON, DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH, MEDICAL QUALITY ASSURANCE COMMISSION,

Respondent.

PETITION FOR REVIEW BY THE WASHINGTON SUPREME COURT

Law Office of Shawna L. Parks Shawna L. Parks Cal Bar No. 208301 Admitted *Pro Hac Vice* 4470 W. Sunset Blvd., Suite 107-347 Los Angeles, CA 90027 Tel/Fax: 323.389.9239

sparks@parks-law-office.com

I. Introduction

The Court of Appeals' Opinion effects an unprecedented expansion of the State's ability to sanction doctors pursuant to the RCW 18.130.170 based on an alleged "mental condition." Indeed, the Court of Appeals' Opinion essentially renders the term "mental condition" definition-less, subjecting doctors, who have never been diagnosed with any mental disorder or illness, to sanction and stigmatization based on their personality "traits" or "problems" or their alleged "behavior."

In this case, the State's own witnesses who testified at the administrative hearing found that Dr. Neravetla had no diagnosable disorder or illness. Moreover, Dr. Neravetla presented testimony from three esteemed experts at the hearing, each of whom testified that he was mentally fit to practice medicine. The Court of Appeals itself found that there was no evidence of incompetence, negligence or malpractice creating an unreasonable risk that a patient may be harmed. Nevertheless, it upheld a sanction based on a "mental condition."

This Opinion creates an amorphous and dangerous standard that subjects physicians to charges for an unlimited range of activity. It violates principles of statutory construction; improperly conflates the requirements of RCW 18.130.170, which regulates physicians with "mental conditions,"

and RCW 18.130.180, which regulates "unprofessional conduct;" and renders the term "mental condition" unconstitutionally vague.

Moreover, the Opinion will open the legal floodgates to challenges based on "mental condition" in the medical and legal professions. The Court of Appeals' definition is inherently subjective, and subjects a wide range of workplace conduct to sanction. Section 170 was not intended to regulate workplace disputes, but rather significant, incapacitating mental and physical conditions that truly prevent a doctor from safely and skillfully practicing medicine. The Court of Appeals' Opinion dramatically undermines this purpose, and essentially guarantees numerous further filings based on subjective evaluations of behavior or conduct, rather than any identified mental condition.

II. Petitioner's Identity

Petitioner Shantanu Neravetla is the Appellant at the Court of Appeals, the Petitioner at the trial court, and the Respondent at the administrative hearing.

-

¹ Although this case involved a medical license, the bodies of law related to legal and medical competency inform each other. Among other things, the Court of Appeals here relied on a case about a lawyer charged under a state bar disciplinary proceeding to support its definition of "mental condition" in the Opinion. Op. at 11 (citing *In Re Ryan*, 97 Wn.2d 284, 287 (1982) (addressing Washington State Bar Association rule related to "mental illness or other mental incapacity."). Thus, the Court of Appeals' Opinion in this matter is likely to inform state bar disciplinary proceedings as well.

III. Citation to Appellate Decision to Be Reviewed

Petitioner requests that the Washington Supreme Court review the Washington State Court of Appeals published opinion *Shantanu Neravetla, M.D. v. Department of Health, State of Washington*, Case No. 48394-7-II, Washington Court of Appeals, Division II (April 11, 2017), herein the "Opinion."

A copy of the Opinion is attached as Appendix A. A copy of RCW 18.130.170 and RCW 18.130.180 are attached as Appendix B. A copy of the Medical Quality Assurance Commission Policy on Disruptive Behavior, referenced by the Court of Appeals, is attached as Appendix C.

IV. Issues Presented for Review

This case presents an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court. Moreover, it raises a significant question under the U.S. Constitution, which also merits review by the Supreme Court.

The Revised Code of Washington Section 18.130.170(1) states that:

[i]f the disciplining authority believes a license holder may be unable to practice with reasonable skill and safety to consumers *by reason of any mental or physical condition*, a statement of charges in the name of the disciplining authority shall be served on the license holder and notice shall also be issued providing an opportunity for a hearing. The hearing shall be limited to the sole issue of the capacity of the license holder to practice with reasonable skill and safety. If the disciplining authority determines that the license holder is unable to practice with reasonable skill and safety for one of the reasons stated in this subsection, the disciplining authority shall impose such sanctions under RCW 18.130.160 as is deemed necessary to protect the public. (emphasis added)

The issues for review involve the scope of the term "mental condition" under the code, and include:

- 1. Did the Court of Appeals' Opinion improperly interpret the phrase "mental condition" under R.C.W. 18.130.170(1) to be defined to cover alleged evidence of "traits," "problems," and/or "behavior," despite no diagnosis whatsoever of a mental disorder, and testimony by three experts at hearing that the doctor at issue was fit to practice medicine?
- 2. Did the Court of Appeals' Opinion improperly conflate a finding under R.C.W. 18.130.170(1) of a "mental condition" based on alleged evidence of "traits," "problems," and/or "behavior," with RCW

18.130.180, which regulates unprofessional conduct in the medical profession?

3. Is the definition of "mental condition" under R.C.W. 18.130.170(1) as articulated by the Court of Appeals' Opinion unconstitutionally vague?

V. Statement of the Case

Dr. Neravetla was a 26-year-old physician when he began his transitional year residency in 2011 at Seattle's Virginia Mason Medical Center. Administrative Record ("AR") 1055; AR 1813; AR 2454. on June 24, 2011, Dr. Neravetla was granted a one-year license to practice medicine in Washington so that he could complete this residency. AR 3.

Based on a series of disputed events, Virginia Mason issued a referral for Dr. Neravetla to the Washington Physicians Health Program ("WPHP").² WPHP "informally assessed" Dr. Neravetla and referred him for further assessment, which was ultimately conducted by Pine Grove

5

² Dr. Neravetla continues to vehemently disagree with the findings of the Panel and the Court of Appeals regarding any alleged conduct attributed to him, as such findings are based *wholly* on unsubstantiated hearsay testimony. For example, none of the "complaints" allegedly received by Dr. Dipboye were in evidence at the hearing. Nor were any performance reviews. However, for purposes of this Petition, Dr. Neravetla focuses on the legal parameters of the Court of Appeals' Opinion, rather than the alleged facts, since even the alleged facts fail to support a finding of

[&]quot;mental condition" under the code.

Behavioral Health. AR 1293-94; AR 2108-09; AR 21-15; AR 2120; AR 2133; AR 2158; AR 2162-63.

Pine Grove conducted assessments of Dr. Neravetla, but did not diagnose Dr. Neravetla with anything. Rather it suggested that he had certain traits, an "occupational problem," and mentioned "disruptive behavior." AR 2327; AR 2323; AR 2320.

The Medical Quality Assurance Commission ("MQAC") lodged a Statement of Charges against Dr. Neravetla on March 15, 2013, alleging that he was unable to practice medicine with reasonable skill and safety to consumers by reason of mental or physical condition, pursuant to RCW 18.130.170(1). No other statutory violation was alleged, and the Statement of Charges was never amended. AR 3-6.

At the hearing on April 21-23, 2014, the Department of Health presented testimony from staff of WPHP and Pine Grove. They all testified that no one had diagnosed Dr. Neravetla with any mental disorder. *See, eg.*, AR 2327, AR 2320; AR 2323 (Dr. Teresa Mulvihill of Pine Grove); AR 2269, Il 5-14; AR 2269, Il 15-25 (Ed Anderson, PhD, of Pine Grove).

Dr. Neravetla presented testimony from three preeminent experts, all of whom unequivocally stated that he had no disorder or condition that would render him unsafe to practice medicine, and that he was in fact fit to practice medicine. *See* AR 2609-2614; AR 2633; AR 2655-66. These experts based their opinions on in-person meetings and testing with Dr. Neravetla and/or review of the records and assessments of the State's witnesses in the case. *See* AR 2651-55; AR 2633-34; AR 2608-2612.

Beyond that, the testimony at the hearing focused on his *conduct* and behavior. The only testimony regarding his conduct at work came from Dr. Keith Dipboye, the residency program supervisor, who only alleged he had secondhand reports of Dr. Neravetla's performance; Dr. Brian Owens, the director for graduate medical education, whose information about Dr. Neravetla primarily came from Dr. Dipboye; and Dan O'Connell, PhD, a career coach who had spent only a few hours with Dr. Neravetla.

Based on this hearing, on May 20, 2014 the MQAC issued Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law that upheld the charges and issued sanctions against Dr. Neravetla. AR 1601-14. The Commission squarely ruled that "[t[here was no evidence presented, nor does the Commission find, that the Respondent suffers from a personality disorder." AR 1608, n.5. However, the Commission sanctioned Dr. Neravetla based on what it termed his "occupational problem," stating that this "occupational problem was disruptive to his internship; that it did interfere with his ability to communicate and work with others; and, that if

it persists, it would impede his ability to practice with reasonable skill and safety." AR 1610, ¶1.10(b) (emphasis added); *see also id.* (referencing MQAC policy on "disruptive behavior" as basis for decision); *compare* AR 1604, ¶1.3 (simultaneously finding that it had insufficient evidence to determine Dr. Neravetla's conduct during his residency).

The Commission ordered that should Dr. Neravetla, whose temporary license issued for the one year residency program had expired, ever seek licensure in the State of Washington again that he must obtain an evaluation from a WPHP referred evaluator and follow any subsequent recommendations. AR 1612, ¶3.1.

Dr. Neravetla sought reconsideration by the Commission, arguing, *inter alia*, that "disruptive behavior" does not constitute a mental condition. AR 1615-24; AR 1639, ¶6. This request was denied. AR 1777.

Dr. Neravetla appealed this decision to the Superior Court for the State of Washington, Thurston County, which affirmed the Commission's Order on October 14, 2015 via a mere two-and-a-half-page order. CP 371-73. Dr. Neravetla then filed a notice of appeal with the Court of Appeals, Division II, on November 25, 2015. The Court heard argument on December 9, 2016, and issued its Opinion on April 11, 2017.

Dr. Neravetla has not practiced medicine in Washington, or any other state, since leaving Washington nearly five years ago.

VI. Argument

A. Standard of Review

Issues pertaining to constitutional limitations and statutory authority are issues of law to be determined *de novo* by the Court. *Okeson v. City of Seattle,* 150 Wn.2d 540, 548-49 (2003); *In Re Schneider,* 173 Wn.2d 353, 358 (2011).

B. The Court of Appeals Improperly Expanded the Definition of Mental Condition Under Section 170; This Expansion Lacks Objective Criteria and Potentially Encompasses a Variety of Workplace Behaviors.

The Court of Appeals' determination that Section 170 can regulate behavior, problems or conduct flies in the face of multiple rules of statutory construction. Moreover, it creates an inherently subjective standard that leaves the ultimate determination to the personal and erroneous beliefs of the decisionmaker, thus potentially regulating a wide variety of workplace behavior.

The term "mental condition" is not defined by the Uniform Disciplinary Act ("UDA") or the Washington's statute adopting the UDA, Chapter 18.130 RCW. Nor has it been defined by case law, until now.³

9

³ However, in the criminal context, Washington Courts of Appeal have defined the term "mental condition" to mean "mental abnormality," "personality disorder," or "mental disability," that is established by a

However, the overall construction of the charging statute assumes that a diagnosis will be at issue. *See In re Estate of Mower*, 193 Wn. App. 706, 720 (2016) (avoid interpretations that would render superfluous a provision of the statute); and *State v. Roggenkamp*, 153 Wn.2d 614, 623-24 (2005) (a single word in a statute should not be read in isolation).

Section RCW 18.130.170 clearly anticipates that the mental condition would be *diagnosable* by a certified health professional because it authorizes the disciplinary authority to require a license holder to submit to a mental examination. *See, e.g.*, RCW 18.130.170(2)(a) ("the disciplining authority may require a license holder to submit to a mental or physical examination by one or more licensed or certified health professionals.") and RCW 18.130.170(2)(c) ("the license holder may submit physical or mental examination reports from licensed or certified health professionals.").

Therefore, RCW 18.130.170 requires a finding of some diagnosable mental condition before discipline can be pursued. If an objective medical determination of a mental condition were statutorily irrelevant, then there would be no need for the Legislature to authorize an independent medical examination.

]

psychological diagnosis. *See, e.g., In re Det. Of Albrecht*, 129 Wn. App. 243, 250 (2005); *In re Det. Of Jacobson*, 120 Wn. App. 770, 781 (2004); *State v. Despenza*, 38 Wn. App. 645, 648 (1984).

Dr. Neravetla did exactly what the statute anticipated in this instance – he submitted "mental examination reports from licensed or certified health professionals." RCW 18.130.170(2)(c); see also generally 18.130.170(2)(a)-(d). What would reports from health professionals address, other than whether he was diagnosed with a disorder and whether he was mentally fit to practice medicine. If three experts testifying to mental fitness to practice medicine is insufficient to overcome a charge based on a "mental condition," there is no clear standard for what would suffice as a defense.

The Court of Appeals' citation to RCW 18.130.170(2)(f) to support its argument that "mental condition" extends beyond a mental illness or disorder is unpersuasive. Op. at 8. The Code's statement that *a determination by a court* that a license holder is "mentally incompetent or an individual with mental illness" is presumptive evidence of the license holder's inability to practice with reasonable skill and safety in no way suggests that the term "mental condition" can regulate conditions beyond those. In fact, it suggests the opposite – namely that the code is specifically concerned with mental incompetence or illness, and that a prior *judicial finding* of such constitutes presumptive evidence of a disqualifying "mental condition," without further inquiry.

Moreover, the Opinion's reliance on the MQAC's policy statement is no more persuasive. Op. at 8-9. The MQAC Policy Statement relied on by the Court of appeals *distinguishes between* disruptive behavior and a mental condition, stating that "disruptive behavior may be a sign of an illness or condition that may affect clinical performance." AR 1833. Further, there is nothing in the policy to indicate that it was issued to implement RCW 18.130.170, nor to put any doctor on notice that this policy was in any way intended to provide guidance on that statute, or inform the term "mental condition."

To the extent the Policy Statement attempts to describe a category of *conduct*, even that is incredibly vague and amorphous. The MQAC Policy Statement defines "disruptive behavior" as "[p]ersonal conduct, whether verbal or physical, that negatively affects or that potentially may negatively affect patient care. (This includes but is not limited to conduct that interferes with one's ability to work with other members of the health care team.)." MQAC Policy Statement, AR 1107 & Appx. C. It includes a wide range of activity including such relatively mild things as "difficulty working collaboratively with others," and "quietly exhibiting uncooperative attitudes during routine activities." *Id.* According to the Department, the consequences of "disruptive behavior" can also include a

wide range of things, including job dissatisfaction for staff – which is not at all uncommon in the workplace.

Thus, under the MQAC policy, even a quietly uncooperative attitude that results in job dissatisfaction can thus lead to charges as a mental condition under 170 – leading to quasi-criminal convictions and professional licensure sanctions. Moreover, many types of conduct entitled to protection under other types of workplace statutes can be subject to allegations of "disruptive behavior" or "occupational problem," thus leading to charges under 170. *Cf. Clark v. Columbia/HCA Info. Servs., Inc.* 117 Nev. 468, 473, 479 (Nev. 2001) (holding that alleged "disruptive conduct," in that matter mirrored conduct protected under whistleblowing laws). Particularly in the medical profession, public policy supports protections for medical professionals to speak out and challenge what they believe to be problematic conditions, without fear of reprisal in the form of a "disruptive behavior" label, and charges under 170.

C. The Court of Appeals Improperly Conflated Section 170,
Which Regulates Mental Conditions, With Section 180, Which
Regulates Conduct.

The Court of Appeals' Opinion conflates the requirements of 170 – which regulates mental conditions – with 180 – which regulates unprofessional conduct. Op. at 9. It did so, at least in part, on what it said

was Dr. Neravetla's failure to identify the specific conduct conflated. *Id.* However, what it failed to acknowledge or address is that by upholding a prosecution of Dr. Neravetla based on alleged conduct or behavior, the Court of Appeals (as the Department of Health before it) conflated the entire concept of *conduct* under 180, with a *mental condition* under 170. *Hallauer v. Spectrum Properties, Inc.*, 143 Wn. 2d 126, 146 (2001) (statutes which stand *in pari materia* are to be read together as constituting a unified whole, maintaining the integrity of the respective statutes). Indeed, the Court of Appeals' Opinion itself expressly applied its analysis to the alleged "actions" and "behavior" of Dr. Neravetla. Op. at 9.

By its express terms, RCW 18.130.180 regulates a specifically enumerated list of "conduct, acts, or conditions constituting unprofessional conduct for any license holder under the jurisdiction of this chapter." (emphasis added). In contrast, RCW 18.130.170 only discusses "conduct" insofar as it provides authority to compel physical and mental examinations, which requires the Department give written notice that includes, among other requirements, "a statement of the specific conduct, event, or circumstances justifying an examination." RCW 18.130.170 (2)(a)(i). In other words, conduct may put relevant parties on notice of a condition, but it is not itself sanctionable under 170. Indeed, other than providing grounds to compel a mental examination, conduct is not

mentioned anywhere in RCW 18.130.170, and is not included in the section related to hearings. In fact, RCW 18.130.170(1) states that "hearing shall be limited to the *sole* issue of the *capacity* of the license holder to practice with reasonable skill and safety." (emphasis added). The Department's position that it can regulate physician conduct under RCW 18.130.170 would render RCW 18.130.180 meaningless and superfluous and make meaningless the authority to compel a mental examination and the hearing provisions under 170.

Notably, the Court of Appeals recognized that none of Dr. Neravetla's alleged conduct would have merited sanctions under any of the categories of 180. Op. at 9. It found that there was not evidence of "incompetence, negligence or malpractice which results in injury to a patient or which creates an unreasonable risk that a patient may be harmed." Op. at 9, n.8 (citing RCW 18.130.180(4)). Further, while at the same time it found that there was not incompetence, negligence or malpractice that "creates an unreasonable risk that a patient may be harmed," it also found that Dr. Neravetla's hearing legitimately focused on his "ability to safely treat the public" – a distinction that is without a difference.

D. The Definition of Mental Condition Under the Court of Appeals' Opinion is Unconstitutionally Vague.

Here, the Court of Appeals held that the statute requires a "mental condition that affects a person's ability to work with patients safely," and that this does not require an actual diagnosable mental illness. Op. at 11. That definition is unconstitutionally vague, especially when the alleged "condition" is based on "problems" or "behavior."

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