NO. 94545-4

#### SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

SHANTANU NERAVETLA, M.D.,

Petitioner,

V.

STATE OF WASHINGTON, DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH, MEDICAL QUALITY ASSURANCE COMMISSION,

Respondent.

## ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW BY THE WASHINGTON SUPREME COURT

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

TRACY L. BAHM Assistant Attorney General WSBA No. 22950 1125 Washington Street SE PO Box 40100 Olympia, WA 98504-0100 (360) 664-9006



####

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

#### IV. REASONS WHY THE COURT SHOULD DENY REVIEW

This Court will not take review of a case unless it meets the criteria of RAP 13.4(b). This case fails to satisfy any of those criteria. The Court of Appeals decision does not conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court, or with a published decision of that court. Neravetla asserts that a question of law is presented under the Constitution. Neravetla's constitutional question, however, is readily answered under well-established law and does not warrant this Court's review. Finally, although Neravetla contends that this case is one of substantial public interest, he fails to show any issues of substantial public interest, much less any errors, in the resolution of this fact-specific case. Thus, review

is unwarranted because any ruling on his other issues would have little precedential value because they would be inextricable from the specific findings and conclusions of this case.

# A. Using Behaviors As Part Of The Basis For A Determination Of A Mental Condition Is Appropriate Under RCW 18.130.170 And Does Not Amount To An Erroneous Conflation Of That Statute With Section .180

Neravetla claims that the Court of Appeals erred by conflating 18.130.170 (.170),which regulates mental conditions. RCW with 18.130.180 (.180), which regulates unprofessional conduct. Petition for Review at 13. Neravetla has challenged the Commission's action on this basis at every level. But this theory is inherently flawed because it depends on the premise that behaviors have no connection to mental conditions and cannot be used to determine if someone has a mental As a result, Neravetla's argument against application of condition. RCW 18.130.170 to his case has no merit and does not warrant a third level of appellate review.

The Medical Quality Assurance Commission is the state agency that regulates the practice of physicians, chapter 18.71 RCW, in Washington. The Commission's mandate is to protect the public's health and safety and to promote the welfare of the state by regulating the competency and quality of physicians. RCW 18.71.002, .003. Once

licensed to practice in Washington, even on a limited license, the Commission retains jurisdiction and authority under the Uniform Disciplinary Act (UDA), chapter 18.130 RCW, to discipline the licensee for either unprofessional conduct under RCW 18.130.180, or, as in this case, to sanction the licensee who is suffering from "any mental or physical condition" that impairs the capacity of the license holder to practice with reasonable skill and safety under RCW 18.130.170(1). RCW 18.71.002, 18.71.095, 18.71.230.

Therefore, upon receipt and investigation of a complaint, the Commission must decide which of the following actions to take:

- (1) charge the case under RCW 18.130.170 if the licensee lacks the capacity to practice due to any mental or physical condition;
- (2) charge the licensee with unprofessional conduct under one of the 25 enumerated types of unprofessional conduct under RCW 18.130.180; or
  - (3) close the case without charging.<sup>3</sup>

If the Commission finds, after a hearing, that the licensee is in violation of either the unprofessional conduct or impaired capacity provisions, it must issue an appropriate sanction under RCW 18.130.160.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The Commission could also enter into an information form of discipline with the licensee, upon his/her agreement.

Those sanctions are designed to first protect the public health and safety, and then, if possible, to rehabilitate the licensee. WAC 246-16-800(2)(a).

Commission explicitly charged Neravetla The Despite Neravetla's arguments to the AR 5. RCW 18.130.170(1). contrary, RCW 18.130.180 has never been at issue in this case. The fact that Neravetla's conduct, both at the hospital and in the evaluation process, contributed to the determination that he had a mental condition does not somehow transform the proceeding from a .170 action to a .180 action for unprofessional conduct. And, the record of the hearing here showed that experts on both sides evaluated and "diagnosed" disruptive physician behavior by looking at the physician's behavior. That use of relevant evidence to determine a mental condition does not show "conflation" or misapplication of section .170, as claimed by Neravetla.

To make this "conflation" argument, Neravetla contends that charging him under RCW 18.130.170(1) required a showing of a diagnosis of a mental disorder and that the absence of that diagnosis supports his argument. Petition for Review at 10. This argument does not warrant this Court's further review because it patently misconstrues the statute, and relies on a misguided, unduly narrow, and unreasonable interpretation of RCW 18.130.170(1). The plain language of that statute demonstrates legislative intent to provide the Commission authority to exercise its

expertise and remove from practice those physicians who lack the capacity to safely practice, regardless how that mental condition manifests itself or which criteria were used to determine such a condition exists. That is exactly what the Commission did here.

## B. The Court Of Appeals And The Commission Properly Determined That The Term "Mental Condition" Did Not Require A Diagnosis Of A Mental Illness Or Disorder

Neravetla asserts that the Court of Appeals decision constitutes an improper expansion of the definition of "mental condition" as used in .170. Petitioner's Brief at 9. That argument does not warrant review because the statute is clear on its face and was properly interpreted by the Commission. The Court of Appeals also reasonably concluded that RCW 18.130.170 does not require a diagnosis of a mental illness under the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual (DSM) before a physician's mental condition can be found to affect the physician's ability to practice safely.

Neravetla claims the statute requires a finding of some diagnosable mental disorder because RCW 18.130.170(2) allows the disciplining authority to require a license holder to submit to an evaluation. *See* Petitioner's Brief at 10. This point does not support Neravetla's strained interpretation. Under RCW 18.130.170(2) the disciplining authority may require a licensee to get an evaluation when there is a legitimate question about a health care provider's fitness to practice. The statute does not in

any way compel a conclusion that a "mental condition" must be narrowly limited to a mental illness in the DSM. In this case, there was no need to send Neravetla for that type of evaluation because one had already been conducted by Pine Grove. The Commission possessed that evaluation when it charged Neravetla under RCW 18.130.170(1).

Neravetla's further assertions that the evaluations he sought from meeting the intent of his experts should suffice as RCW 18.130.170(2) and negating the Commission's action under RCW 18.130.170(1) are meritless, and do not raise an issue that warrants review by this Court. Petition for Review at 11. He was not asked or ordered to undergo those evaluations, nor are such evaluators professionals "designated by the disciplining authority" as set forth in RCW 18.130.170(2)(a). Neravetla paid these professionals to assess him Significantly, those experts did not take the and provide testimony. critical step of speaking to VMMC or WPHP and show nothing to support Neravetla's argument that a "mental illness" diagnosis under the DSM is needed. To a great extent, their evaluations were merely a strawman set up by Neravetla to avoid the demonstrated evidence of disruptive physician behavior found by the Commission and supported by the evidence.

Neravetla also argues for review by claiming that doctors who are quietly uncooperative or who speak out against problematic conditions are susceptible to being sanctioned under this statute. Petition for Review at 13. This argument is meritless. First, Neravetla's parade of imagined horribles has no basis in facts—there is nothing to suggest that any such charging has or would occur. Before this type of imagined concern warrants review as an issue of substantial public interest, Neravetla needs to show something more than speculation about facts that are entirely different than the case at hand. Cf. In re Disciplinary Proceedings Against Bonet, 144 Wn.2d 502, 29 P.3d 1242 (2001) (Attorney disciplinary case found to present an issue of substantial public interest on the issue of whether a prosecuting attorney may offer an inducement to a defense witness to not testify at a criminal proceeding); State v. Watson, 155 Wn.2d 574, 122 P.3d 903 (2005) (Court found case to be a "prime example of an issue of substantial public interest," where the Court of Appeals held that a memo issued by the prosecuting attorney regarding DOSA sentencing was an ex parte communication, and could affect "every sentencing proceeding in Pierce County after November 26, 2001.").

Not only do Neravetla's arguments lack merit, he has consistently ignored, at every level of review, that RCW 18.130.170(1) has two criteria

that must be met. The Commission must find that the practitioner has a mental or physical condition, and that condition must render them unable to practice with reasonable skill and safety. There are likely many practitioners with various mental or physical conditions that do not impair their ability to practice. They would not be chargeable under this statute. Rather, doctors who are unable to safely practice for other reasons (without any evidence of a mental or physical condition) would not be charged under RCW 18.130.170, but would likely be charged under RCW 18.130.180(4).<sup>4</sup>

In short, the Court of Appeals correctly determined, as did the Commission, that "[t]he plain language provides that any mental condition that causes the license holder to be unable to practice safely would satisfy the statute. RCW 18.130.170(1). The goal of the statute is to protect consumers and insure that the license holder practices with reasonable skill and safety." Opinion at 8. Based on the facts and these rulings, the Commission was very careful not to overreach its authority.

Moreover, the Commission also took care not to sanction

Neravetla beyond the minimum necessary to protect the public. At the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> RCW 18.130.180(4) Incompetence, negligence, or malpractice which results in injury to a patient or which creates an unreasonable risk that a patient may be harmed. The use of a nontraditional treatment by itself shall not constitute unprofessional conduct, provided that it does not result in injury to a patient or create an unreasonable risk that a patient may be harmed.

present time, Neravetla has a mental condition and no proof of any treatment for that condition. When considering public safety, it would be reckless to allow him to practice without some evidence of treatment (or a cure) for his condition, or a new evaluation indicating it was no longer warranted.

## C. The Term "Mental Condition" In RCW 18.130.170 Is Not Unconstitutionally Vague When The Statute Is Read As A Whole

Neravetla contends that RCW 18.130.170 is unconstitutionally vague because it uses the term "condition" and does not require a diagnosable mental illness. Petitioner's Brief at 16. His contention fails. "A statute is void for vagueness only if it is framed in terms so vague that persons of common intelligence must necessarily guess at its meaning and differ as to its application." Haley v. Med. Disciplinary Board, 117 Wn.2d. 720, 739, 818 P.2d 1062 (1991). Statutes are presumed to be constitutional. Id. In a vagueness challenge, courts do not analyze portions of a statute in isolation from the context in which they appear. If a statute can be interpreted so as to have the required degree of specificity, then it can withstand a vagueness challenge despite its use of a term which, when considered in isolation, has no determinate meaning. Haley, 117 Wn.2d at 741. Given this well-established legal precedent, Neravetla's constitutional argument does not warrant review.

This case is akin to *Haley*, where the term "moral turpitude" in RCW 18.130.180(1) was challenged as unconstitutionally vague. The statute states in pertinent part that unprofessional conduct is violated by "(1) [t]he commission of any act involving moral turpitude, dishonesty, or corruption relating to the practice of the person's profession, whether the act constitutes a crime or not." RCW 18.130.180(1). The *Haley* Court refused to look at whether the term is vague if read in isolation. Instead, it rejected the vagueness challenge on the basis that the term is to be understood by its context. The term "moral turpitude" derived concrete meaning from the context of the purposes of professional discipline as demonstrated in the statutory framework, in a specific application, and with the shared knowledge and understanding of the medical profession:

When RCW 18.130.180(1) is construed in relation to the purposes of professional discipline, considered in the context of a specific application, and supplemented by the shared knowledge and understanding of medical practitioners, its content is sufficiently clear as to put persons of common understanding on notice that certain conduct is prohibited. Physicians no less than teachers, as in *Morrison*, veterinarians, as in *Hand*, or police officers, as in *Cranston*, will be able to determine what kind of conduct indicates unfitness to practice their profession.

Haley, 117 Wn.2d at 743.

Another analogous disciplinary action by the Bar Association further reinforces this analysis. See In re Ryan, 97 Wn.2d 284, 644 P.2d 675 (1982). Mr. Ryan was put on inactive status after he engaged in a series of delusional and paranoid behaviors concerning his legal practice, including some court filings which were contrary to his client's interest. He was transferred to inactive status under a disciplinary rule requiring restriction from practice due to "insanity, mental illness, senility, excessive use of alcohol or drugs, or other mental incapacity. DRA 4.1(b)." In re Ryan, 97 Wn.2d at 2808. Like Neravetla, Ryan was not diagnosed with a mental illness. Rather, the disciplinary officer relied on the testimony of Ryan's colleagues and friends that he was suffering from a "mental problem" to find that he was incapable of practicing law due to having an "unstable mental state." Id. at 287. He also found that Ryan's own testimony supported the allegations as he still had no insight into the unstable nature of his actions. *Id.* at 287-88.

On appeal, Ryan challenged the terms "mental illness" and "other mental incapacity" as unconstitutionally vague. This Court disagreed, based on the rest of the statutory language modifying those terms:

Ryan overlooks, however, the qualifying condition of the rule; that the mental condition must cause the attorney to be unable to conduct his/her law practice adequately. DRA 4.1(b). Thus, the Bar must establish that an attorney is unable to conduct the practice of law adequately because

of insanity, mental illness, senility, excessive use of alcohol or drugs, or other mental incapacity. DRA 4.1(b). Given the inherently uncertain nature of mental illness and the broad ranges of the practice of law, we fail to perceive how a more definite standard could be articulated, and Ryan has suggested none.

Ryan, 97 Wn.2d at 287-88.

RCW 18.130.170(1) similarly does not suffer from vagueness because the remainder of the language in the statute clarifies the type of mental condition intended: that the mental condition must cause the physician to be unable to practice with reasonable skill and safety. And, like the attorney disciplinary rule, there is no more narrow way to define "mental condition" and still capture those types of impairment which may render a physician unsafe to practice.

Thus, *Haley* and *Ryan* together show how the term "any mental condition" is not vague as used in the statute and context of professional discipline. As in *Haley* and *Ryan*, this Court should reject Neravetla's argument that he has demonstrated the Commission's application of RCW 18.130.170(1) to be unconstitutionally vague beyond a reasonable doubt. He cannot meet his burden for relief under RCW 34.05.570(3)(a), and there is no need for this issue to be reviewed by this Court.

#### V. CONCLUSION

The Court of Appeals properly applied RCW 18.130.170(1). Nothing in the Court of Appeals decision raises a significant constitutional question or involves an issue of substantial public interest. Accordingly, discretionary review should be denied.